Biology and treatment of metastasis of sarcoma to the brain

Omar Ahmad¹, Mike Chan², Paul Savage³, Kounosuke Watabe⁴, Hui-Wen Lo⁴, Shadi Qasem¹

¹Department of Pathology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ³Departments of Hematology and Oncology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, ⁴Department School of Medicine, Medical Center Blvd, Winston School of Medicine, Medical Ce

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Pathology of sarcoma metastasis
- 4. Biology of sarcoma metastasis
 - 4.1. Angiogenic factors
 - 4.2. Tumor suppressor P53
 - 4.3. Oncoproteins
 - 4.4. Additional protein factors
 - 4.5. MicroRNAs
- 5. Surgery and radiation therapy for sarcoma metastasis
- 6. Chemotherapy for sarcoma metastasis
- 7. Summary
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Sarcomas are rare tumors with devastating clinical consequences, often affecting children as well as adults. Brain metastasis in sarcoma is frequently preceded by lung metastasis. Common offenders include Ewing sarcoma, osteosarcoma and leiomyosarcoma. Although our understanding of sarcoma metastasis remains limited, several cellular factors and signaling pathways appear to play regulatory roles and/or exhibit prognostic values in sarcoma metastasis. In addition, MicroRNAs have been shown to have either positive or negative impact on sarcoma biology and metastasis. Sarcoma is considered one of the classic radio- and chemo-resistant brain metastasis, hence the use of multiple modalities in order to improve the therapeutic ratio and overcome the inherent resistance. Treatment modalities include surgical resection, chemotherapy, gamma knife radiosurgery and/or fractionated wholebrain radiotherapy. The efficacy of chemotherapy is limited by the ability of the drug(s) to cross the bloodbrain barrier (BBB), and the chemosensitivity of the tumor to the chemotherapeutic agent. In this review, we discuss the pathology, biology and therapy for sarcoma brain metastasis.

2. INTRODUCTION

Sarcomas are malignant mesenchymal neoplasms with an incidence of 2/100,000 population per year, and constitute 0.7.% of all cancers (1). The most

frequent malignant intracranial neoplasms are secondary ones, particularly carcinomas metastasizing from extracranial primary sites. In adults, the most common primary sites are lung, breast, melanoma, colorectal and renal cell carcinoma (2). Sarcomas are heterogeneous neoplasms and have much less potential for intracranial metastasis than epithelial tumors (2). The most frequent metastatic sites for sarcoma are lung, bone and liver (3). The reported incidence of sarcoma brain metastases ranges from 1-7% in adults (1, 3-6), and from 4.3.-8% in children (7-9). Sarcoma types known to metastasize to the brain include Ewing sarcoma. Osteosaroma. rhabdomyosarcoma, leiomyosarcoma, alveolar soft part sarcoma and pleomorphic undifferentiated sarcoma (1,3-9).

Similar to other patients with intracranial metastases, patients with sarcoma metastases usually present with signs of increased intracranial pressure, symptoms like headache and nausea, or neurologic manifestation like hemiparesis and seizures. The diagnosis is usually suspected in the presence of the appropriate history of primary sarcoma, and the finding of new intracranial lesion/lesions using imaging techniques. Furthermore, it can be confirmed histologically if a resection is attempted as part of the treatment plan. Treatment options include surgical resection, chemotherapy, gamma knife radiosurgery or fractionated whole-brain radiotherapy (10). Recent studies show

Study	Reference	N	Single	Multiple	Frontal	Temporal	Parietal	Occipital	Cerebellar	Dural/meningeal
Flannery	10	21	9	12						6
Salavati	1	35	27	8	17	3	4	2		
Espat	4	40								9
Kebudi	7	12	5	7						
Paulino	8	20	14	6	6	4	3	1		
Postovsky	9	18	11	7		2	2	2	1	1
Yoshida	5	27	19	8	4	5	6	2	2	
Bindal	11	21	18	3	4	1	7	3	1	
			103	51	31	15	22	10	4	16

Table 1. Intracranial locations for brain sarcoma metastases

Table 2. Sarcoma brain I	metastases in	adults
--------------------------	---------------	--------

Study	Reference	N	LMS	ASPS	ES	LS	OS	CS	SS	MFH (UPS)	RMS	NS	HPC	Other
Hoiczyk	3	21	5	5	3	3								5
Flannery	10	17	4	2	1	1	1	1	1			1		5
Salavati	1	26	7	2	4	1	4			4	1			3
Espat	4	40	8			5				4	4			19
Yoshida	5	18		2	2	2	1			4		1	4	2 FS
Bindal	11	14	4	2	1		2			3				2
All		136	28	13	11	12	8	1	1	15	5	2	4	36
%			20	10	8	9	6	1	1	11	4	1	3	26
LMS: Leiomyosarcoma; ASPS: Alveolar soft part sarcoma; ES: Ewing sarcoma; LS: Liposarcoma; OS: Osteosarcoma; CS: Chondrosarcoma; SS: Synovial sarcoma; MFH: Malignant fibrous histiocytoma (also known as undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma "UPS"); PMS: Phabdomycearcoma; NS: Neurosarcoma (also known as MPNST); HPC: Hemangioperiortoma; ST: Soft fissue; ES: Eibrosarcoma														
Rivio. Ritabuomyosaicoma, No. Neurosaicoma (also known as Nichold), nPC. Remangiopencylonia, ST. Solt lissue, FS. Fibrosaicoma														

the median time from diagnosis to metastasis to be 12 months, and the median survival after diagnosis in the range of 8-16 months. The best survival is achieved in patients with isolated brain sarcoma metastases who undergo local treatment such as surgical resection and gamma knife (3, 10).

Brain metastases from sarcoma often follow lung metastases in 57-80% of patients (1, 4, 10-12). Almost all pediatric patients have metastasis to other sites, mostly lung, at the time of brain metastasis (7, 8). This led some authors to suggest that the presence of lung or other sites of metastasis is a predisposing factor for brain metastasis in children (7). Sarcoma metastasis tends to be single rather than multiple, with single metastatic lesions being twice as common (1, 5, 7-11). Intracranial sarcoma metastases are parenchymal in most of the cases, and less commonly leptomeningeal or dural based. Parenchymal metastases are mainly supratentorial; they most commonly involve the frontal lobes, followed by parietal and temporal lobes and least likely the occipital lobes (1, 5, 8, 9, 11). Metastatic lesions to meninges or dura are less frequent (10-23% of cases) (4, 10) (Table 1).

3. PATHOLOGY OF SARCOMA METASTASIS

In our review of the literature, leiomyosarcoma (LMS) appears to be the most common metastatic sarcoma to the brain in adults (20%), followed malignant fibrous histiocytoma (MFH)/undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma at 10% and alveolar soft part sarcoma (ASPS) at 9% (Table 2). In children, Osteosarcoma (OS) and Ewing sarcoma (ES) are the most common types (36% and 35% respectively), followed by Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) at 17% (Table 3). The most common histologic types to give brain metastases, overall, are ES, OS and LMS. The other less frequently reported types are RMS, ASPS, malignant fibrous histiocytoma (MFH)/pleomorphic undifferentiated sarcoma, liposarcoma (LS), synovial sarcoma (SS), chondrosarcoma (CS), and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor (MPNST)/neurosarcoma. Figure 1 illustrates several examples of brain sarcoma metastasis. They vary morphologically and include round cell, spindle cell, epithelioid and pleomorphic subtypes (Figure 1). Cytological analysis of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) has been found to be a useful method to exclude or establish leptomeningeal involvement (7).



Figure 1. Pathology of sarcoma metastasis to the brain. A, Ewing sarcoma. A small round blue cell tumor. B, synovial sarcoma. Notice the normal brain tissue on the right side of the picture. C, alveolar soft part sarcoma. Nests of large epithelioid cells with abundant pink cytoplasm. D, pleomorphic undifferentiated sarcoma (malignant fibrous histiocytoma). Notice the large bizarre nuclei. (Hematoxylin and eosin, 20X magnification)

Study	Reference	Ν	ASPS	ES	OS	CS	RMS	Other	
Flannery		4			2	1	1		
Salavati		9	1	1	6		1		
Yoshida		9	1	4	2		2		
Bindal		7		2	5				
Kebudi		12	1	4	5		1	1	
Paulino		20		6	5		7	2	
Postovsky		19	1	11	4	1	2		
All		80	4	28	29	2	14	3	
%			5	35	36	3	17	4	
ASPS: Alveolar soft part sarcoma; ES: Ewing sarcoma; OS: Osteosarcoma; CS: Chondrosarcoma; RMS: Rhabdomyosarcoma									

 Table 3. Sarcoma brain metastases in children

4. BIOLOGY OF SARCOMA METASTASIS

Current understanding of the biology of sarcoma metastasis remains limited (13). A literature review revealed that several cellular factors and signaling pathways play regulatory roles and/or exhibit prognostic values in sarcoma metastasis. These include angiogenic factors, tumor suppressors, oncoproteins, transcription regulators, and non-coding microRNAs, as summarized below. It is important to note that many of these signaling pathways are not particularly specific to sarcoma brain metastasis.

4.1. Angiogenic factors

Neovascularization has been shown to positively correlate with sarcoma metastasis (14). Several angiogenic factors can promote sarcoma metastasis, likely through enhancing neovascularization. For example, the vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) gene is frequently amplified (64%) in osteosarcoma (OS) tumors (15) and overexpressed in more than 50% of Ewing's sarcoma (16). VEGF-A expression was found to be positively associated with lung metastasis of OS (17). Furthermore, VEGF-A has been shown to serve as a prognostic factor for poor overall and disease-free survival in OS patients (15, 17) and ES patients (16). In contrast, no correlation was found between VEGF-A expression and histological subtype, stage, or response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with OS (17).

In soft tissue sarcomas (STSs), VEGF-A is also highly expressed (18). Ectopic VEGF-A expression promoted lung metastasis of STS xenografts, and anti-VEGFR2 (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2) monoclonal antibody DC101 in combination with doxorubicin inhibited STS tumor growth and lung metastasis (18). Interestingly, ES-specific EWS-FLI1 fusion oncogenic transcription factor activates VEGF-A gene expression in ES. In addition to VEGF-A, the expression of a positive G1 regulator, cyclin D1, can also be enhanced by EWS-FLI1(16).

Despite the positive correlation between VEGF-A and sarcoma lung metastasis, microvessel density was

not found to be associated with lung metastasis or overall survival of ES patients (19) or STS patients (20). Another more recent study confirmed that a high tissue VEGF expression, but not microvessel density, was associated with poor overall survival of STS patients and a higher probability of local recurrence and metastasis (21).

Another angiogenic factor, hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), has been shown to promote UPS metastasis to the lung through enhancing expression of the intracellular enzyme procollagen-lysine, 2-oxoglutarate 5-dioxygenase 2 (PLOD2) (22). This is in agreement with the notion that intratumoral hypoxia correlates with metastasis and poor survival in patients with sarcoma. Pharmacologic inhibition of PLOD2 enzymatic activity suppresses UPS lung metastases, suggesting the potential use of PLOD2 and HIF-1 as novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of metastatic UPS (22).

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) play an important role in remodeling extracellular matrix and facilitating tumor motility and invasion (23). Proteins associated with matrix remodeling have been shown to be elevated in STS bone metastases compared to healthy bones (24). MMP-9 (gelatinase B or the 92-kDa gelatinase/type IV collagenase) expression has been associated with sarcoma lung metastasis (25). MMP-9 inhibition using a ribozyme has been shown to block lung metastasis in a rat sarcoma model system (25). However, the results of existing literature on MMP-9 in OS have been mixed (26). More studies are needed to better define the importance of MMPs in sarcoma metastasis.

4.2. Tumor suppressor p53

Loss of p53 tumor suppressor and gain of mouse double minute 2 homolog (MDM2), a E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase that degrades p53, are frequent events in a wide spectrum of human cancers, including sarcomas (27). Although germline p53 mutations were found in only about 3.0.% of children with OS (28), positivity for p53 expression (indicative of mutant dysfunctional p53 expression) was found in approxomately 27% of 86 OS patients (29). MDM2 gene amplification was detected in 6.6.% of these OS patitents (29). While aberrant p53-MDM2 pathway is critical for tumorigenic events towards OS (29), p53 mutation status did not differentiate between patients who presented with a localized OS and those who presented with metastases at the time of diagnosis (30). However, some recent evidence suggests that loss of wild-type p53 may also be involved sarcoma progression. For example, wild-type p53 was found to inhibit NFkappaB-induced MMP-9 promoter activation in STS (31). Meta-analysis suggests the use of p53 as an effective biomarker for survival in OS patients (32); however, additional studies are needed to solidify this suggested use.

Overexpression of COP9 signalosome subunit 3 (COPS3), which posses kinase activity, has been linked to p53 protein degradation. Interestingly, COPS3 overexpression is frequently detected in high-grade OS tumors and this high level of expression can be attributed to frequent amplification of the region of 17p11.2. ~p12 amplicon (25%) in the disease (33). Interestingly, a more recent study reported that RNAi-mediated COPS3 gene silencing inhibited OS metastasis (34). In the genetic background of p53 mutation, mice with CD44 knockout aborted OS metastasis while tumorigenesis and tumor growth were not affected, suggesting a funcitonal crosstalk between p53 and CD44 in mediating OS metastasis (35).

4.3. Oncoproteins

Platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) has been shown to be highly expressed in OS (36). In ES, PDGFR is frequently overexpressed and has been shown to promote motility and growth of ES cells (37). Consistent with this report, it has been found that silencing PDGFR led to reduced spontaneous tumor growth and lung metastasis of ES xenografts (38).

Src family tyrosine kinases (SFK) play an important role in promoting growth and metastasis of many types of cancer (39). It has been shown that c-Src mediates mitogenic signals in Kaposi's sarcoma cells (40). Lyn, a member of the SFK family of proteins, is highly expressed and activated in ES tumors (41). Targeting Lyn using siRNA and AP23994, a small-molecule SFK inhibitor, led to reduced ES tumor growth and metastasis (41). Amore recent study showed that SFK inhibition by a selective SFK inhibitor SI221 suppressed rhabdomyosarcoma cell growth and invasiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and also trigged p38 MAP kinase-mediated differentiation (42).

The oncogene astrocyte elevated gene-1 (AEG-1), also known as metadherin (MTDH), is a multifunctional protein involved in tumorigenesis, development, neurodegeneration, and inflammation (43). AEG-1/MTDH can localize in the cell membrane, cytoplasm, endoplasmic reticulum, nucleus, and nucleolus, contributing to diverse signaling pathways such as PI3K-AKT, NF-kappaB, MAPK and Wnt (43). AEG-1/MTDH protein can be detected in primary and metastastic sarcoma samples (44). Interestingly, high levels of both MTDH/AEG-1 and HOTAIR, a long non-coding RNA, in primary sarcomas are correlated with a high probability of metastasis. In contrast, lower levels of expression of both MTDH/AEG-1 and HOTAIR were correlated with a better response to treatment (44).

4.4. Additional protein factors

Tumor necrosis factor receptor-1 (TNFR1) has been shown to be elevated in sarcoma bone metastases (45). TNFR1 and its Igand $TNF\alpha$ in bone

metastasis were positively correlated with poor survival following initial development of brain metastasis (45). Wilms' tumor 1 (WT1) is a zinc finger transcription factor that has been found to express in high-grade metaststic OS specimens. Importantly, high WT1 expression was shown to associate with poor survival of patients with OS metastasis (45).

Through comparative gene profiling analysis, the homeodomain only protein X (HOPX) was found to be expressed at a higher level in the metastatic sarcoma cells compared to the non-metastatic counterparts (46). HOPX knockdown inhibited sarcoma tumor cell mobility and *in vivo* metastasis (46). A RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase Gp78 (also known as AMFR or RNF45) was reported to be involved in sarcoma metastasis (47). Gp78 posseses the ability to degrade KAI (also known as CD82), a transmembrane protein functioning as a metastasis suppressor, thereby promoting sarcoma metastasis (46).

Zinc finger E-Box homeobox (ZEB) proteins are E-box binding transcription factors that play an important role in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (48). Specifically, ZEB1 and ZEB2 can repress expression of E-caderin, an important protein maintaining the epithelial phenotype of cells, thereby promoting the mesenchymal cell phenotype. Of note, sarcoma cells are cells of the mesenchymal phenotype. Interestingly, ZEB2 has been shown to repress the epithelial phenotype of ES cells and facilitate ES metastasis (49). ZEB2 expression knockdown reduced the metastastic potential of EW xenografts. Interestingly, several microRNAs have been shown to be expressed at lower levels in OS, including the miR-200 family of microRNAs (50), and miR-200 can suppress ZEB1/2 expression (48). By upregulating the miR-200 family of microRNAs, busulfan downregulated ZEB1/2 and displayed anti-osteosarcoma effects (51). MiR-141, a member of the miR-200 family of microRNAs, was found to be expressed at a lower level in OS tumors (52). Ectopic overexpression of miR-141 inhihited OS cell proliferation and induced apoptosis, likely through downregulating expression of ZEB1/2 (52).

4.5. MicroRNAs

The role of microRNAs in sarcoma has been intensively studied in recent years and the results are intriguingly interesting (53, 54). MicroRNAs can have positive or negative impact on sarcoma biology and metastasis. Through microRNA expression profiling, a microRNA signature has been reported for OS tumors (55). The signature includes high expression of miR-181a/b/c combined with reduced expression of miR-16, miR-29b, and miR-142-5p. Higher expression of miR-27a and miR-181c in pre-treatment biopsy samples characterized patients who developed clinical metastatic disease. Another microRNA profiling study reported that miR-199b-5p and miR-100-3p were downregulated in the highly aggressive OS cell lines, whereas miR-155-5p, miR-135b-5p and miR-146a-5p were upregulated (56). Interestingly, miR-135b-5p and miR-146a-5p were potentially linked to the metastatic potential of OS.

A number of microRNAs have been identified to promote sarcoma progression. MiR-17 was frequently increased in OS tissues and cell lines; inhibition of miR-17 in OS cell lines substantially suppressed cell proliferation, migration, and invasion (57). miR-17 appeared to directly downregulate expression of the tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). An inverse correlation was observed between expression of miR-17 and PTEN in OS tissues (57). Furthermore, miR-181 was shown to increase circulating tumor cells and promote OS metastasis (52). MiR-210 expression was significantly increased in OS tumors compared to corresponding non-cancerous bone tissues; the increased expression correlated with large tumor size, poor response to preoperative chemotherapy, decreased overall survival and progression-free survival, and metastasis (58). In a clinical study, it was observed that high expression levels of CD133 and miR-133a were significantly correlated with poor prognosis of OS patients (59). Conversely, silencing miR-133a expression combined with chemotherapy suppressed OS metastasis to the lung (59).

Several microRNAs have the propensity to negatively regulate sarcoma growth and metastasis. As discussed earlier, miR-200 family of microRNAs downregulates ZEB1/2 expression leading to reduced tumor progression (48, 51, 52). MiR-145 was found to inhibit VEGF-A expression, contributing to reduced invasion and metastasis of OS (60). MiR-126 was reported to inhibit OS cell growth, invasion, and migration by downregulating ADAM-9, a disintegrin and metalloprotease 9 (61). Decreased miR-206 expression was significantly associated with advanced clinical stage, T classification, metastasis and poor histological differentiation of OS (62). MiR-218 has been shown to inhibit TIAM1, MMP-2 and MMP-9 protein expression, leading to OS cell migration and invasion (63).

5. SURGERY AND RADIATION THERAPY FOR SARCOMA METASTASIS

Sarcoma is considered one of the classic radioresistant brain metastases (64). As sarcoma brain metastases are rarer than the other radioresistant histologies such as renal cell carcinoma and melanoma, extrapolation of data from the more common radioresistant histologies is often used in the management of sarcoma brain metastases. A common theme in management is the use of radiosurgery as well as multiple modalities in order to improve the therapeutic ratio and overcome the inherent resistance of sarcoma brain metastases. The choice of modalities depends on the particular situation.



Figure 2. Patient with metastatic malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor (MPNST). A, axial T1 weighted MRI with contrast on day of Gamma Knife planning. The patient received a dose of 18 Gy prescribed to the 50% isodose line in the pre-operative setting. B, sagittal T1 weighted MRI on day of laser interstitial thermotherapy (LITT). LITT procedure was performed 1 month after Gamma Knife as a planned consolidative treatment because of the known radioresistance of sarcoma brain metastases. C, axial T1 weighted MRI performed 2 months post-LITT showing decreased central enhancement consistent with treatment response. Rim of enhancement at the periphery of the tumor is a common finding for patients who receive LITT.

Brain metastases in radioresistant histologies, if not managed successfully, can lead to a high rate of death from brain metastases (64).

Stereotactic radiosurgery is commonly applied in cases of sarcoma brain metastases either alone or in combination with whole brain radiotherapy. Radiosurgery delivers a single high dose of radiation to a limited volume of brain. The advantage of radiosurgery for sarcoma is that by increasing the amount of radiation given in a single fraction, it appears to increase the efficacy of the radiation by increasing the number of targets to radiation damage (65) (Figure 2A). When radiosurgery is combined with whole brain irradiation, the local control of radiation is improved because of the increase in cumulative dose delivered to the metastases (66). Radiosurgery is generally used without whole brain irradiation in scenarios where there are fewer metastases in the brain (<5). Whole brain radiotherapy is added to radiosurgery when there are a greater number of lesions and when lesions are of a size where local control with radiosurgery alone may be compromised (>2cm) (66).

Surgery also plays a common role in the management of sarcoma brain metastases as surgery allows the immediate decrease of tumor burden. Surgery alone for brain metastases commonly leads to local failure, and the use of either radiosurgery (67) or whole brain radiotherapy (68) in the adjuvant setting can decrease this risk. Surgery is generally most useful in scenarios of large or symptomatic brain metastases, and in these situations has even been found to increase survival of patients (69). Limitations of surgery include surgical accessibility of the metastases and whether surgical intervention would significantly affect post-operative functionality and quality of life. For surgically inaccessible lesions, laser interstitial thermotherapy (LITT) can been used to ablate radioresistant lesions to increase the local control of radiation alone (Figure 2B-C). Other means to optimize local control of radioresistant brain metastases like sarcoma are the use of concurrent systemic therapies with radiosurgery (70,71).

6. CHEMOTHERAPY FOR SARCOMA METASTASIS

CNS metastases from sarcomas are uncommon complications of stage IV sarcoma. Hence, clinical trials addressing the use of chemotherapy are lacking, and most reports are anecdotal in nature. Many retrospective analyses (in other tumors) have determined that the two most significant factors in determining the likelihood of achieving a meaningful response when using chemotherapy to treat CNS metastases are the ability of the drug(s) to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB), and the chemosensitivity of the tumor to the chemotherapeutic agent(s) being used (72).

Unfortunately, the most active drugs in sarcomas - ifosfamide, doxorubicin, gemcitabine, and docetaxel - do not readily cross the blood-brain barrier, and hence penetrate CNS metastases poorly. Although limited reports exist in other solid tumors suggesting at least some of these drugs cross the BBB adequately enough to treat CNS metastases (73-76), the nature of these reports do not support the routine use of the anti-sarcoma drugs cited above in the treatment of CNS metastases.

Chemotherapy has been reported to be active, and is even incorporated into, front-line management of certain solid tumors; these tumors tend to be highly chemosensitive, and many are considered chemocurable. Examples are germ cell tumors, gestational trophoblastic tumors (77), and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Unfortunately, chemotherapy is considered palliative in the treatment of (most) advanced sarcomas, with (systemic) response rates hovering around 30-35% and median durations of response being in the order of 1-2 years.

Molecular targeted therapies may change the landscape of systemic therapy in the management of CNS metastases, as many agents are "small enough" to penetrate the BBB adequately, and many reports now exist of targeted therapies resulting in CNS responses of appropriate tumors (78). Of note regarding sarcomas, is a report of pazopanib resulting in CNS response of a renal cell carcinoma, potentially prolonging the overall survival of the patient (79).

In summary, the two most important factors in determining the efficacy of systemic chemotherapy in the management of CNS metastases – ability to cross the BBB and the chemosensitivity of the tumor – are lacking in the arena of sarcomas. Thus, systemic options for treatment of CNS metastases should be regarded as investigational, or certainly not the treatment of choice. The emerging role of therapeutic, targeted, small molecules may change this in the future.

7. SUMMARY

Sarcomas infrequently metastasize to the brain, often in the setting of other systemic metastasis. Patients with localized metastasis and radiosurgery have relatively better prognosis; however, the prognosis is poor overall. The biology of sarcoma metastasis is not well understood. Angiogenic factors and loss of P53 appear to have a role; meanwhile oncoproteins and miRNAs are currently under study. Targeted therapy and personalized multimodality treatment planning appears to have a promising role in the treatment of certain types of sarcomas.

8. REFERENCES

- M. Salvati, A. D'Elia, A. Frati and A. Santoro: Sarcoma metastatic to the brain: a series of 35 cases and considerations from 27 years of experience. *J Neurooncol*, 98(3), 373-7 (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s11060-009-0085-0
- 2. A. D. Norden, P. Y. Wen and S. Kesari: Brain metastases. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 18(6), 654-61 (2005)
- 3. M. Hoiczyk, M. Herbrik, F. Grabellus, L. Podleska, C. Pottgen, B. Schwindenhammer,

V. Bekas, M. H. Schuler and S. Bauer: Brain metastases in sarcoma patients: Incidence and outcome. *ASCO Meeting Abstracts*, 32(15_suppl), 10591 (2014)

- N. J. Espat, M. Bilsky, J. J. Lewis, D. Leung and M. F. Brennan: Soft tissue sarcoma brain metastases. Prevalence in a cohort of 3829 patients. *Cancer*, 94(10), 2706-11 (2002) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.10554
- S. Yoshida, K. Morii, M. Watanabe and T. Saito: Brain metastasis in patients with sarcoma: an analysis of histological subtypes, clinical characteristics, and outcomes. *Surg Neurol*, 54(2), 160-4 (2000) DOI: 10.1016/S0090-3019(00)00293-7
- A. Ogose, T. Morita, T. Hotta, H. Kobayashi, H. Otsuka, Y. Hirata and S. Yoshida: Brain metastases in musculoskeletal sarcomas. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*, 29(5), 245-7 (1999) DOI: 10.1093/jjco/29.5.245
- R. Kebudi, I. Ayan, O. Gorgun, F. Y. Agaoglu, S. Vural and E. Darendeliler: Brain metastasis in pediatric extracranial solid tumors: survey and literature review. *J Neurooncol*, 71(1), 43-8 (2005) DOI: 10.1007/s11060-004-4840-y
- A. C. Paulino, T. X. Nguyen and J. L. Barker, Jr.: Brain metastasis in children with sarcoma, neuroblastoma, and Wilms' tumor. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 57(1), 177-83 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0360-3016(03)00502-9
- S. Postovsky, S. Ash, I. N. Ramu, Y. Yaniv, R. Zaizov, B. Futerman, R. Elhasid, A. Ben Barak, A. Halil and M. W. Ben Arush: Central nervous system involvement in children with sarcoma. *Oncology*, 65(2), 118-24 (2003) DOI: 10.1159/000072336
- T. Flannery, H. Kano, A. Niranjan, E. A. Monaco, 3rd, J. C. Flickinger, J. Kofler, L. D. Lunsford and D. Kondziolka: Gamma knife radiosurgery as a therapeutic strategy for intracranial sarcomatous metastases. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 76(2), 513-9 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.02.007
- R. K. Bindal, R. E. Sawaya, M. E. Leavens, S. H. Taylor and V. F. Guinee: Sarcoma metastatic to the brain: results of surgical treatment. *Neurosurgery*, 35(2), 185-90; discussion 190-1 (1994) DOI: 10.1227/00006123-199408000-00002

- M. Wronski, E. Arbit, M. Burt, G. Perino, J. H. Galicich and M. F. Brennan: Resection of brain metastases from sarcoma. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 2(5), 392-9 (1995) DOI: 10.1007/BF02306371
- L. Zhu, M. M. McManus and D. P. Hughes: Understanding the Biology of Bone Sarcoma from Early Initiating Events through Late Events in Metastasis and Disease Progression. *Front Oncol*, 3, 230 (2013) DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00230
- S. DuBois and G. Demetri: Markers of angiogenesis and clinical features in patients with sarcoma. *Cancer*, 109(5), 813-9 (2007) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.22455
- J. Yang, D. Yang, Y. Sun, B. Sun, G. Wang, J. C. Trent, D. M. Araujo, K. Chen and W. Zhang: Genetic amplification of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway genes, including VEGFA, in human osteosarcoma. *Cancer*, 117(21), 4925-38 (2011) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.26116
- B. Fuchs, C. Y. Inwards and R. Janknecht: Vascular endothelial growth factor expression is up-regulated by EWS-ETS oncoproteins and Sp1 and may represent an independent predictor of survival in Ewing's sarcoma. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10(4), 1344-53 (2004) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0038
- M. Kaya, T. Wada, T. Akatsuka, S. Kawaguchi, S. Nagoya, M. Shindoh, F. Higashino, F. Mezawa, F. Okada and S. Ishii: Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in untreated osteosarcoma is predictive of pulmonary metastasis and poor prognosis. *Clin Cancer Res*, 6(2), 572-7 (2000)
- L. Zhang, J. A. Hannay, J. Liu, P. Das, M. Zhan, T. Nguyen, D. J. Hicklin, D. Yu, R. E. Pollock and D. Lev: Vascular endothelial growth factor overexpression by soft tissue sarcoma cells: implications for tumor growth, metastasis, and chemoresistance. *Cancer Res*, 66(17), 8770-8 (2006) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1217
- D. Mikulic, I. Ilic, M. Cepulic, J. S. Giljevic, D. Orlic, B. Zupancic, I. Fattorini and S. Seiwerth: Angiogenesis and Ewing sarcomarelationship to pulmonary metastasis and survival. *J Pediatr Surg*, 41(3), 524-9 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2005.11.058

- N. C. Saenz, M. J. Heslin, V. Adsay, J. J. Lewis, D. H. Leung, M. P. LaQuaglia and M. F. Brennan: Neovascularity and clinical outcome in high-grade extremity soft tissue sarcomas. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 5(1), 48-53 (1998) DOI: 10.1007/BF02303764
- K. Yudoh, M. Kanamori, K. Ohmori, T. Yasuda, M. Aoki and T. Kimura: Concentration of vascular endothelial growth factor in the tumour tissue as a prognostic factor of soft tissue sarcomas. *Br J Cancer*, 84(12), 1610-5 (2001) DOI: 10.1054/bjoc.2001.1837
- T. S. Eisinger-Mathason, M. Zhang, Q. Qiu, N. Skuli, M. S. Nakazawa, T. Karakasheva, V. Mucaj, J. E. Shay, L. Stangenberg, N. Sadri, E. Pure, S. S. Yoon, D. G. Kirsch and M. C. Simon: Hypoxia-dependent modification of collagen networks promotes sarcoma metastasis. *Cancer Discov*, 3(10), 1190-205 (2013)

DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0118

- 23. J. Vandooren, P. E. Van den Steen and G. Opdenakker: Biochemistry and molecular biology of gelatinase B or matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9): the next decade. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 48(3), 222-72 (2013) DOI: 10.3109/10409238.2013.770819
- A. Conti, V. Espina, A. Chiechi, G. Magagnoli, C. Novello, L. Pazzaglia, I. Quattrini, P. Picci, L. A. Liotta and M. S. Benassi: Mapping protein signal pathway interaction in sarcoma bone metastasis: linkage between rank, metalloproteinases turnover and growth factor signaling pathways. *Clin Exp Metastasis*, 31(1), 15-24 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s10585-013-9605-6
- 25. J. Hua and R. J. Muschel: Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase 9 expression by a ribozyme blocks metastasis in a rat sarcoma model system. *Cancer Res*, 56(22), 5279-84 (1996)
- J. Wang, Q. Shi, T. X. Yuan, Q. L. Song, Y. Zhang, Q. Wei, L. Zhou, J. Luo, G. Zuo, M. Tang, T. C. He and Y. Weng: Matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) in osteosarcoma: review and metaanalysis. *Clin Chim Acta*, 433, 225-31 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.cca.2014.03.023
- 27. M. Wade, Y. C. Li and G. M. Wahl: MDM2, MDMX and p53 in oncogenesis and cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 13(2), 83-96 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/nrc3430

- J. F. McIntyre, B. Smith-Sorensen, S. H. Friend, J. Kassell, A. L. Borresen, Y. X. Yan, C. Russo, J. Sato, N. Barbier, J. Miser and *et al.*: Germline mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in children with osteosarcoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 12(5), 925-30 (1994)
- F. Lonardo, T. Ueda, A. G. Huvos, J. Healey and M. Ladanyi: p53 and MDM2 alterations in osteosarcomas: correlation with clinicopathologic features and proliferative rate. *Cancer*, 79(8), 1541-7 (1997) DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970415) 79:8<1541:AID-CNCR15> 3.0.CO;2-Y
- N. Gokgoz, J. S. Wunder, S. Mousses, S. Eskandarian, R. S. Bell and I. L. Andrulis: Comparison of p53 mutations in patients with localized osteosarcoma and metastatic osteosarcoma. *Cancer*, 92(8), 2181-9 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/1097-0142(20011015)92: 8< 2181:AID-CNCR1561>3.0.CO;2-3
- J. Liu, M. Zhan, J. A. Hannay, P. Das, S. V. Bolshakov, D. Kotilingam, D. Yu, A. F. Lazar, R. E. Pollock and D. Lev: Wild-type p53 inhibits nuclear factor-kappaB-induced matrix metalloproteinase-9 promoter activation: implications for soft tissue sarcoma growth and metastasis. *Mol Cancer Res*, 4(11), 803-10 (2006) DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-06-0201
- H. L. Fu, L. Shao, Q. Wang, T. Jia, M. Li and D. P. Yang: A systematic review of p53 as a biomarker of survival in patients with osteosarcoma. *Tumour Biol*, 34(6), 3817-21 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s13277-013-0966-x
- M. van Dartel and T. J. Hulsebos: Amplification and overexpression of genes in 17p11.2. ~ p12 in osteosarcoma. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 153(1), 77-80 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2004.03.007
- T. Yan, G. Tang, T. Ren, D. Shen, K. Sun, W. Liang and W. Guo: RNAi-mediated COPS3 gene silencing inhibits metastasis of osteogenic sarcoma cells. *Cancer Gene Ther*, 18(6), 450-6 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/cgt.2011.16
- 35. G. F. Weber, R. T. Bronson, J. Ilagan, H. Cantor, R. Schmits and T. W. Mak: Absence of the CD44 gene prevents sarcoma metastasis. *Cancer Res*, 62(8), 2281-6 (2002)

- 36. Y. Oda, B. Wehrmann, K. Radig, H. Walter, I. Rose, W. Neumann and A. Roessner: Expression of growth factors and their receptors in human osteosarcomas. Immunohistochemical detection of epidermal growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor and their receptors: its correlation with proliferating activities and p53 expression. *Gen Diagn Pathol*, 141(2), 97-103 (1995)
- A. Uren, M. S. Merchant, C. J. Sun, M. I. Vitolo, Y. Sun, M. Tsokos, P. B. Illei, M. Ladanyi, A. Passaniti, C. Mackall and J. A. Toretsky: Beta-platelet-derived growth factor receptor mediates motility and growth of Ewing's sarcoma cells. *Oncogene*, 22(15), 2334-42 (2003) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206330
- Y. X. Wang, D. Mandal, S. Wang, D. Hughes, R. E. Pollock, D. Lev, E. Kleinerman and A. Hayes-Jordan: Inhibiting platelet-derived growth factor beta reduces Ewing's sarcoma growth and metastasis in a novel orthotopic human xenograft model. *In vivo*, 23(6), 903-9 (2009)
- L. C. Kim, L. Song and E. B. Haura: Src kinases as therapeutic targets for cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, 6(10), 587-95 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.129
- N. Munshi, J. E. Groopman, P. S. Gill and R. K. Ganju: c-Src mediates mitogenic signals and associates with cytoskeletal proteins upon vascular endothelial growth factor stimulation in Kaposi's sarcoma cells. *J Immunol*, 164(3), 1169-74 (2000) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.3.1169
- H. Guan, Z. Zhou, G. E. Gallick, S. F. Jia, J. Morales, A. K. Sood, S. J. Corey and E. S. Kleinerman: Targeting Lyn inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in Ewing's sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 7(7), 1807-16 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0058
- N. Casini, I. M. Forte, G. Mastrogiovanni, F. Pentimalli, A. Angelucci, C. Festuccia, V. Tomei, E. Ceccherini, D. Di Marzo, S. Schenone, M. Botta, A. Giordano and P. Indovina: SRC family kinase (SFK) inhibition reduces rhabdomyosarcoma cell growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* and triggers p38 MAP kinasemediated differentiation. *Oncotarget* (2015)
- 43. S. G. Lee, D. C. Kang, R. DeSalle, D. Sarkar and P. B. Fisher: AEG-1/MTDH/LYRIC, the

beginning: initial cloning, structure, expression profile, and regulation of expression. *Adv Cancer Res*, 120, 1-38 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-401676-7.00001-2

- M. M. Milhem, T. Knutson, S. Yang, D. Zhu, X. Wang, K. K. Leslie and X. Meng: Correlation of MTDH/AEG-1 and HOTAIR Expression with Metastasis and Response to Treatment in Sarcoma Patients. *J Cancer Sci Ther*, S5(4) (2011)
- 45. A. Chiechi, C. Novello, G. Magagnoli, E. F. Petricoin, 3rd, J. Deng, M. S. Benassi, P. Picci, I. Vaisman, V. Espina and L. A. Liotta: Elevated TNFR1 and serotonin in bone metastasis are correlated with poor survival following bone metastasis diagnosis for both carcinoma and sarcoma primary tumors. *Clin Cancer Res*, 19(9), 2473-85 (2013) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3416
- D. Kovarova, J. Plachy, J. Kosla, K. Trejbalova, V. Cermak and J. Hejnar: Downregulation of HOPX controls metastatic behavior in sarcoma cells and identifies genes associated with metastasis. *Mol Cancer Res*, 11(10), 1235-47 (2013)

DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-12-0687

- Y. C. Tsai, A. Mendoza, J. M. Mariano, M. Zhou, Z. Kostova, B. Chen, T. Veenstra, S. M. Hewitt, L. J. Helman, C. Khanna and A. M. Weissman: The ubiquitin ligase gp78 promotes sarcoma metastasis by targeting KAI1 for degradation. *Nat Med*, 13(12), 1504-9 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/nm1686
- L. Hill, G. Browne and E. Tulchinsky: ZEB/ miR-200 feedback loop: at the crossroads of signal transduction in cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 132(4), 745-54 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.27708
- E. T. Wiles, R. Bell, D. Thomas, M. Beckerle and S. L. Lessnick: ZEB2 Represses the Epithelial Phenotype and Facilitates Metastasis in Ewing Sarcoma. *Genes Cancer*, 4(11-12), 486-500 (2013) DOI: 10.1177/1947601913506115
- 50. S. Brabletz and T. Brabletz: The ZEB/miR-200 feedback loop--a motor of cellular plasticity in development and cancer? *EMBO Rep*, 11(9), 670-7 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/embor.2010.117

- 51. Q. Mei, F. Li, H. Quan, Y. Liu and H. Xu: Busulfan inhibits growth of human osteosarcoma through miR-200 family microRNAs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Cancer Sci*, 105(7), 755-62 (2014) DOI: 10.1111/cas.12436
- H. Xu, Q. Mei, C. Xiong and J. Zhao: Tumorsuppressing effects of miR-141 in human osteosarcoma. *Cell Biochem Biophys*, 69(2), 319-25 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s12013-013-9801-7
- R. Drury, E. T. Verghese and T. A. Hughes: The roles of microRNAs in sarcomas. *J Pathol*, 227(4), 385-91 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/path.4037
- 54. E. Kobayashi, F. J. Hornicek and Z. Duan: MicroRNA Involvement in Osteosarcoma. *Sarcoma*, 2012, 359739 (2012) DOI: 10.1155/2012/359739
- K. B. Jones, Z. Salah, S. Del Mare, M. Galasso, E. Gaudio, G. J. Nuovo, F. Lovat, K. LeBlanc, J. Palatini, R. L. Randall, S. Volinia, G. S. Stein, C. M. Croce, J. B. Lian and R. I. Aqeilan: miRNA signatures associate with pathogenesis and progression of osteosarcoma. *Cancer Res*, 72(7), 1865-77 (2012) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2663
- S. U. Lauvrak, E. Munthe, S. H. Kresse, E. W. Stratford, H. M. Namlos, L. A. Meza-Zepeda and O. Myklebost: Functional characterisation of osteosarcoma cell lines and identification of mRNAs and miRNAs associated with aggressive cancer phenotypes. *Br J Cancer*, 109(8), 2228-36 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.549
- Y. Gao, L. H. Luo, S. Li and C. Yang: miR-17 inhibitor suppressed osteosarcoma tumor growth and metastasis via increasing PTEN expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 444(2), 230-4 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.01.061
- H. Cai, L. Lin, H. Cai, M. Tang and Z. Wang: Prognostic evaluation of microRNA-210 expression in pediatric osteosarcoma. *Med Oncol*, 30(2), 499 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s12032-013-0499-6
- T. Fujiwara, T. Katsuda, K. Hagiwara, N. Kosaka, Y. Yoshioka, R. U. Takahashi, F. Takeshita, D. Kubota, T. Kondo, H. Ichikawa, A. Yoshida, E. Kobayashi, A. Kawai, T. Ozaki and T. Ochiya: Clinical relevance and

therapeutic significance of microRNA-133a expression profiles and functions in malignant osteosarcoma-initiating cells. *Stem Cells*, 32(4), 959-73 (2014) DOI: 10.1002/stem.1618

- L. Fan, Q. Wu, X. Xing, Y. Wei and Z. Shao: MicroRNA-145 targets vascular endothelial growth factor and inhibits invasion and metastasis of osteosarcoma cells. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai), 44(5), 407-14 (2012) DOI: 10.1093/abbs/gms019
- L. Jiang, A. He, Q. Zhang and C. Tao: miR-126 inhibits cell growth, invasion, and migration of osteosarcoma cells by downregulating ADAM-9. *Tumour Biol*, 35(12), 12645-54 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-2588-3
- Y. P. Bao, Y. Yi, L. L. Peng, J. Fang, K. B. Liu, W. Z. Li and H. S. Luo: Roles of microRNA-206 in osteosarcoma pathogenesis and progression. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, 14(6), 3751-5 (2013) DOI: 10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.6.3751
- J. Jin, L. Cai, Z. M. Liu and X. S. Zhou: miRNA-218 inhibits osteosarcoma cell migration and invasion by down-regulating of TIAM1, MMP2 and MMP9. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 14(6), 3681-4 (2013) DOI: 10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.6.3681
- 64. J. T. Lucas, H. G. Colmer, G. L. White, S. P. Isom, T. L. Ellis, J. J. Urbanic, S. B. Tatter and M. D. Chan: A Competing Risk Analysis of Neurologic Versus Nonneurologic Death in Patients Undergoing Radiosurgical Salvage Following Whole Brain Radiation Therapy Failure (WBRT): Who Actually Dies of Their Brain Metastases? *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics*, 87(2), S52-S52 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.06.136

 J. P. Truman, M. Garcia-Barros, M. Kaag, D. Hambardzumyan, B. Stancevic, M. Chan, Z. Fuks, R. Kolesnick and A. Haimovitz-Friedman: Endothelial membrane remodeling is obligate for anti-angiogenic radiosensitization during tumor radiosurgery.

PLoS One, 5(8), e12310 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012310

 H. Aoyama, H. Shirato, M. Tago, K. Nakagawa, T. Toyoda, K. Hatano, M. Kenjyo, N. Oya, S. Hirota, H. Shioura, E. Kunieda, T. Inomata, K. Hayakawa, N. Katoh and G. Kobashi: Stereotactic radiosurgery plus whole-brain radiation therapy vs stereotactic radiosurgery alone for treatment of brain metastases: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama*, 295(21), 2483-91 (2006)

DOI: 10.1001/jama.295.21.2483

- C. A. Jensen, M. D. Chan, T. P. McCoy, J. D. Bourland, A. F. deGuzman, T. L. Ellis, K. E. Ekstrand, K. P. McMullen, M. T. Munley, E. G. Shaw, J. J. Urbanic and S. B. Tatter: Cavity-directed radiosurgery as adjuvant therapy after resection of a brain metastasis. *J Neurosurg*, 114(6), 1585-91 (2011) DOI: 10.3171/2010.11.JNS10939
- R. A. Patchell, P. A. Tibbs, W. F. Regine, R. J. Dempsey, M. Mohiuddin, R. J. Kryscio, W. R. Markesbery, K. A. Foon and B. Young: Postoperative radiotherapy in the treatment of single metastases to the brain: a randomized trial. *Jama*, 280(17), 1485-9 (1998) DOI: 10.1001/jama.280.17.1485
- R. A. Patchell, P. A. Tibbs, J. W. Walsh, R. J. Dempsey, Y. Maruyama, R. J. Kryscio, W. R. Markesbery, J. S. Macdonald and B. Young: A randomized trial of surgery in the treatment of single metastases to the brain. *N Engl J Med*, 322(8), 494-500 (1990) DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199002223220802
- S. Harris, M. D. Chan, J. F. Lovato, T. L. Ellis, S. B. Tatter, J. D. Bourland, M. T. Munley, A. F. deGuzman, E. G. Shaw, J. J. Urbanic and K. P. McMullen: Gamma knife stereotactic radiosurgery as salvage therapy after failure of whole-brain radiotherapy in patients with small-cell lung cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 83(1), e53-9 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.11.059
- D. C. Cochran, M. D. Chan, M. Aklilu, J. F. Lovato, N. K. Alphonse, J. D. Bourland, J. J. Urbanic, K. P. McMullen, E. G. Shaw, S. B. Tatter and T. L. Ellis: The effect of targeted agents on outcomes in patients with brain metastases from renal cell carcinoma treated with Gamma Knife surgery. *J Neurosurg*, 116(5), 978-83 (2012) DOI: 10.3171/2012.2.JNS111353
- G. J. Lesser: Chemotherapy of cerebral metastases from solid tumors. *Neurosurg Clin N Am*, 7(3), 527-36 (1996)
- 73. P. A. Cassier, I. Ray-Coquard, M. P. Sunyach, L. Lancry, J. P. Guastalla, C. Ferlay, F.

Gomez, H. Cure, A. Lortholary, L. Claude, J. Y. Blay and T. Bachelot: A phase 2 trial of whole-brain radiotherapy combined with intravenous chemotherapy in patients with brain metastases from breast cancer. *Cancer*, 113(9), 2532-8 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.23858

- 74. W. Boogerd, F. Groenveld, S. Linn, J. W. Baars, D. Brandsma and H. van Tinteren: Chemotherapy as primary treatment for brain metastases from breast cancer: analysis of 115 one-year survivors. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 138(8), 1395-403 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s00432-012-1218-y
- 75. Y. Fan, Z. Huang, L. Fang, L. Miu, N. Lin, L. Gong, H. Yu, H. Yang and W. Mao: Chemotherapy and EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors for treatment of brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer: survival analysis in 210 patients. *Onco Targets Ther*, 6, 1789-803 (2013)
- 76. F. Grossi, T. Scolaro, L. Tixi, M. Loprevite and A. Ardizzoni: The role of systemic chemotherapy in the treatment of brain metastases from small-cell lung cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*, 37(1), 61-7 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S1040-8428(00)00098-6
- E. S. Newlands, L. Holden, M. J. Seckl, I. McNeish, S. Strickland and G. J. Rustin: Management of brain metastases in patients with high-risk gestational trophoblastic tumors. *J Reprod Med*, 47(6), 465-71 (2002)
- G. S. Falchook, G. V. Long, R. Kurzrock, K. B. Kim, T. H. Arkenau, M. P. Brown, O. Hamid, J. R. Infante, M. Millward, A. C. Pavlick, S. J. O'Day, S. C. Blackman, C. M. Curtis, P. Lebowitz, B. Ma, D. Ouellet and R. F. Kefford: Dabrafenib in patients with melanoma, untreated brain metastases, and other solid tumours: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet*, 379(9829), 1893-901 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60398-5
- 79. C. Jacobs, D. W. Kim, C. Straka, R. D. Timmerman and J. Brugarolas: Prolonged survival of a patient with papillary renal cell carcinoma and brain metastases using pazopanib. *J Clin Oncol*, 31(7), e114-7 (2013) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.46.0501

Key Words: Sarcoma, Brain Metastasis, Biology, Oncoprotein, Therapy, Review

Send correspondence to: Shadi A. Qasem, Wake Forest Baptist Health, Department of Pathology, Medical Center Blvd, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, Tel: 3367162640, Fax: 3367167595, E-mail: sqasem@wakehealth.edu